Brief of Appellant

INTRODUCTION 

In June of 2013 the Salmons filed this Consumer Protection Action 

against the respondent Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, 

Inc. hereinafter (MERS). On July 19, 2013 Washington Secretary of 

State agency served service of process upon MERS. Over a year 

later on February 2015 the trial court granted an Order of Default 

Judgment in the Salmon's favor. In July 2015 MERS filed a motion 

to vacate the Order of Default (without a written notice of 

appearance) alleging that the Secretary of State served MERS 

incorrectly by serving a MERS "Washington entity" and not the 

correct MERS Delaware entity. The Salmons found no Washington 

entity registered to MERS at the Washington Department of 

Licensing. MERS also alleged that their registered agent Robert 

Jacobsen was disqualified because of a California case. The 

Salmons found the California case was dismissed with prejudice in 

favor of MERS "registered agent" Robert Jacobsen. The trial court 

granted MERS Order to Vacate the Default Judgment. MERS then 
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moved the trial court to dismiss the case alleging res judicata 

applies to the CPA case because of the Salmon's previous DOTA 

case filed on November 17, 2010. Salmons allege that MERS was 

properly served. Also the res judicata doctrine was misapplied 

because the two cases are legally, fundamentally different and do 

not meet the required elements necessary for the doctrine to apply. 

Recently the Salmons found MERS to be operating in Washington 

State in what is legally described as a monopoly. The Salmons are 

seeking a proper legal remedy to protect them from MERS injurious 

actions to the Salmons and others. The Salmons pursue an 

adequate remedy. 

BACKGROUND: 

(1) The appellants Roxy and Samuel Salmon invested their life 

savings over 20 years into buying a property and building their 

home in the Colville area. The home was finished. A loan from 

Countrywide FSB was obtained in 2007 to finance the construction 

loan balance. 

The Salmons led a thriving construction business until 2009. 

Suddenly in early 2009 the Salmons highly qualified and pre

approved clients could no longer secure loans to build their homes. 
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This 2008-09 sudden collapse of the construction market made it 

impossible for the Salmons to continue in their life time profession 

of building custom homes. Because of the sudden depletion of 

construction loans the Salmons construction business collapsed. 

Bank of America, National Association (Bank of America) presumed 

the position of servicer of the Salmons loan in 2008 without 

recording the deed of trust assignment at the Stevens County 

Recorder's office. After negotiation over the phone with the new 

servicer Bank of America to lower the payments, the Salmons 

agreed to make partial payments for 6 months until Bank of 

America could "work out" an affordable payment permanently. At 

the end of the 6 months Bank of America instead raised the 

mortgage payments against their promise. MERS caused injury to 

the Salmon in recording the deed of trust assignment to Bank of 

America on September 23 2010 allowing Bank of America to 

proceed with an inappropriate foreclosure action. 

(2) The Salmons found many unlawful actions MERS was 

engaging in causing the Salmons injury, one of which was that 

MERS appointed ReconTrust Company N.A. (Recontrust) as 

successor trustee to the deed of trust. However, Recontrust was 

owned by Bank of America and illegally operating as the trustee. 
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MERS action was illegal and injurious to the Salmons because 

MERS enabled unqualified parties to engage in illegal foreclosure 

actions. 

The Salmons filed a complaint with Washington's Attorney General 

(AG) Rob McKenna pointing this and many other errors out. 

In August of 2011 the AG lawyer Jim Sugarman filed suit against 

Recontrust, NA for illegal foreclosure practice, but the large issues 

of who the note's real beneficiary is, was never corrected or 

resolved in the courts. 

(3) The AG forwarded the Salmon's complaint to the Federal 

Office of the Comptroller of Currency (OCC). The OCC sent the 

Salmon's complaint to Bank of America headquarters. On 

December 9th 2010 the Salmons filed a Deed of Trust Act (DOTA) 

complaint against Bank of America, et al in the Stevens County 

Superior Court. On December 20th 2010 Bank of America 

headquarters sent a letter to the Salmons stating in paragraph 4 

that "The current owner of the (Salmon's) Note is Federal National 

Mortgage Association". On December 21st 2010 Bank of America 

removed the case to Federal Court in Spokane pursuant diversity. 

The Salmons filed the letter from Bank of America as evidence in 

the federal court showing that in Bank of America's own admission 
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FNMA owned the note, thereby proving the foreclosure to be illegal. 

In spite of this letter, federal judge Rosanna Malouf Peterson 

completely ignored the letter from Bank of America and dismissed 

the case, inappropriately ignoring Washington State DOTA laws 

(RCW 61.24 et al). 

(4) FNMA charter started with a billion dollars and over the years 

became the predominant vehicle to fund more than 80 percent, 

about 65 million Notes, or over 11 trillion dollars in real-estate loans 

until 2008. The "Bank" evolved into the role of servicer and no 

longer acted as the bank or lender anymore, but only a "servicer" 

usurpatiously posing as the "Bank", and the respondent MERS who 

has no legal description or position in the chain of title or mortgage 

business, magically became the "Beneficiary" whom by law is 

required to be the note's owner, or holder. 

(5) MERS became the sole controller listed as "Beneficiary" 

illegally monopolizing the deeds of trust. Hence MERS by 

"nominee" beneficiary became a monopoly controlling the interest 

in all of FNMA's loans through their deeds of trust, by conducting 

assignments and conveying the deed of trust to the servicer who in 

turn illegally foreclosed on millions of families' homes. Even though 
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the FNMA loans were not at any time owned or held by MERS, or 

by their assigned servicers. 

MERS was never prosecuted for their monopoly of unfair and 

criminal assignments of the deeds of trust. 

(6) It wasn't until 2012, when the Salmons discovered MERS 

operated as an illegal monopoly in the business of assigning the 

deeds of trust. Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83 

(2012), ,r1 CHAMBERS, J. - "In the 1990s, the Mortgage Electronic 

Registration Systems Inc. (MERS) was established by several large 

players in the mortgage industry." The list of MERS principles are 

listed on MERS web site. 

Because of the unadvertised hidden way MERS conducted 

business on a wholesale level; the understanding that MERS was a 

monopoly was indiscernible until late 2012 after being exposed in 

the Bain v Metropolitan et al, case. 

Therefore, for these reasons the Salmons filed this Consumer 

Protection Action on June 28, 2013 against MERS in which MERS 

failed to appear. 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred on July 21, 2015 by granting MERS's Order 

Vacating Order of Default without providing clear and convincing 

evidence that the Washington Secretary of State service of 

process was invalid, (see CP at 19, 20). 

2. The trial court erred in denying Salmon's September 01, 2015 

Motion for Discovery in the September 22, 2015 hearing. 

Discovery was necessary for findings of fact to show MERS 

official position with the Washington State Department of 

Revenue as connected with Washington Secretary of State's 

service of process. The court was only relying only on MERS 

hearsay and a dismissed California Case as alleged proof that 

Washington State agencies were in error in MERS proper 

service of process. 

3. The trial court erred in granting MERS's Order to Dismiss 

Salmon's CPA cause of action with Prejudice on September 22, 

2015, (see CP at 24, 25) pursuant res judicata because the 

elements to claim the doctrine of res judicata were 

unsubstantiated. 
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4. The trial court erred by not recusing Judge Neilson for unfair 

bias against the Salmons, and Robert Jacobsen. 

5. The trial court erred in ignoring the Salmon's August 26, 2013 

ex parte service with attached Orders of Default submitted and 

filed pursuant to; RCW 25.05.536; (see CP at 40-42). The trial 

court should have addressed the ex parte orders by either 

granting or denying them. 

6. The trial court erred by erasing the Salmon's ex parte service 

with the attached orders (see CP at 40-42) filed and recorded 

online, on August, 26, 2013 causing Injury to and 

misappropriation of record. 

7. The trial court erred in denying the Salmon's Motion to 

Reconsider for the above Assignments of Error 1-6. 

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Order to Vacate Default 

Was the trial court correct in granting MERS's Order Vacating 

Order of Default (see CP at 19, 20) without providing clear and 

convincing evidence that the service of process was incorrect? The 
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burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on the 

party asserting invalidity in RCW 34.05.570(1) (a). 

a. MERS alleged claims that the Secretary of State 

registration under MERS name was a Washington 

Corporation and not their Delaware Corporation; however 

there has never been a business Corporation in 

Washington State with the respondent's name. If 

Secretary of State Records are incorrect MERS would be 

unserviceable for litigation purposes in Washington State, 

(see RP at 3 lines 6-10). 

2. Was the Discovery Order Denied Improperly? 

Should the Salmon's September 1, 2015 Order on Motion for 

Discovery have been Granted before the case was dismissed on 

September 30,2015, (see CP at 24-026) without any evidentiary 

findings or conclusions to substantiate the Order Vacating Default? 

a. The United States California Northern District Court Case 

No. 4:09-cv-03600 case MERS relies on was dismissed 

with prejudice. So how could this California case have 

any legal bearing in disproving Robert Jacobsen is 
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MERS registered agent pertaining to service of process? 

(See RP at 5 lines 13-25, RP at 23 lines 17-22). After the 

Salmons' found the California case was dismissed with 

prejudice MERS council no longer used the case as 

evidence so why was discovery denied? 

b. Does Washington State agency records show that MERS 

is the correct entity served? INCORP SERVICES was 

MERS registered agent recorded with WA Secretary of 

State and was replaced by Robert Jacobsen under the 

same Secretary of State account, which UBI number 

matches MERS Washington Department of Revenue 

records. 

c. Granting Discovery would unveil MERS Department of 

Revenue records which would help resolve the question 

of proper service, and whether MERS would be legally 

required to carry a business licensed to conduct their 

business in Washington State pertaining to assigning 

hundreds of thousands of deeds of trust, and whether 

MERS operated in the capacity legally defined as a 

monopoly in the State of Washington. 
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3. Case Dismissed Without the Elements of Res Judicata 

Does the doctrine of res judicata apply if; MERS did not appear in 

the Salmons' original 2010 case No. 10-2-00596-8, and MERS was 

not a party in the Salmons' second Quiet Title case No. 11-2-

00426-9 in 2011? 

a. If the elements were not sufficient for MERS to claim the 

doctrine of res judicata in all four categories in order to 

properly dismiss the case? Judgment - Res Judicata -

Elements An adjudicatory proceeding is barred by the 

doctrine of res judicata only if it is identical to a prior 

adjudicatory proceeding with respect to (1) subject 

matter, (2) cause of action, (3) persons and parties, and 

(4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the 

claim is made; Civil Serv Comm'n. v. City Of Kelso, 

137 Wn.2d 166, (1999). 

b. If the Salmons' original 2010 case No. 10-2-00596-8 was 

improperly removed to federal court for lack of jurisdiction 

over the subject matter pursuant CR 12 (b)(1) because 

the Salmons' property should be considered the proper 

subject matter of the original DOTA case pursuant RCW 

4.12.010? 
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4. Recusal for unfair bias-Denied 

Was Judge Allen C. Neilson correct in denying Salmon's Order to 

Recuse Himself? 

a. Did Judge Neilson express unfair bias against the 

Salmon's when he refused to acknowledge the Salmon's 

original Orders for Default? 

b. Did Judge Neilson express unfair bias against MERS 

registered Agent Robert Jacobsen when he called Robert 

Jacobsen a fly-by-night scam artist? (See RP at 26 lines 

24-25 and RP at 39 lines 17-25). 

c. Did Judge Allen C. Neilson display unfair bias against the 

Salmon in the October 13, 2015 hearing on Vacating 

MERS Default Order, in defending MERS on the record 

by inappropriately examining the Salmons' previous 

cases or res judicata (which is irrelevant to MERS 

default) as inferred reason to Vacate the Order of Default 

Judgment, see RP at 6 lines 8-25. 

d. Did the trial court further the bias in granting MERS's 

Order to Dismiss Salmon's CPA cause of action with 
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Prejudice on September 22, 2015, pursuant res judicata 

when the elements to claim the doctrine of res judicata 

were unsubstantiated? (See CP at 24, and CP at 25). 

5. Original Orders Ignored 

Should the Salmon's original Order for Default (see CP at 40-42) 

filed on August 26, 2013 have been officially Granted, or Denied 

because it was accompanied with an ex parte service fee, instead 

of the "courtesy" letter sent of September 25, 2013 pursuant CR 55 

(b), CR 54 (c)? (See CP at 16, RP at 41 lines 1-9) (assignment of 

error 5). 

6. Original Orders Erased from record 

Should the act of erasing the Salmon's recorded Orders for Default 

with the ex parte service at CP at 40-42 be considered a felony 

pursuant RCW 40.16.020? 

a. The Salmons' case was impeded and injured when the 

court refused to acknowledge the Salmons' Orders and 

later erased from the record (assignment of error 6). 
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7. Motion to Reconsider Denied 

Should the Motion to Reconsider been Granted for issues 1-6? 

The trial court did not hear or rule on the Salmons case at any time, 

and denied Salmons reconsideration at the November 27, 2015 

hearing even without MERS present for the hearing. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 28, 2013 the Salmons filed a complaint and summons on • 

MERS registered agent "Robert Jacobsen" as listed with the 

Washington Secretary of State with service of process via Thurston 

County Sherriffs Department. On July15, 2013 the Thurston 

County Sherriff was unable to serve the summons to MERS's 

registered agent. On July19, 2013 the Salmons provided proper 

service of process on MERS through WA Secretary of State and 

filed the affidavit and declaration of service with the trial court. 

MERS did not timely respond to the summons, (see CP at 1-3). On 

August 22, 2013 Jhe Salmons filed a Motion for Default Judgment 

with an Affidavit in Support of Motion, in the trial court, (see CP at 

04-015). Later the Salmons visited the clerk's desk to request a 
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judicial response. The Salmons were promptly instructed by a clerk 

that in order to get the Orders before the judge a thirty dollar ex 

parte service fee was required, or a hearing. The Salmons were 

unsure how to request a hearing. On August, 26, 2013 the Salmons 

filed the two Orders with the ex parte service fee. The ex parte 

service was posted in the online Court Case Summary. The trial 

court did not respond. After some time the Salmons called the court 

asking if the judge had addressed the orders, to find he had not. On 

the second call the Salmon's asked if a meeting could be set up to 

address the issue. The judge's secretary explained in short that the 

judge does not meet with pro se litigants and was telephonically 

denied correspondence with the trial court judge. Much later the 

Salmons noticed the ex parte service was erased from the record, 

and without notice to the Salmons. On September 18, 2013 the trial 

court's Judge Allen C. Nielson mailed an informal letter to the 

Salmons (see CP at 6). 

On December 18, 2013 the Salmons filed a response to Judge 

Allen C. Nielson's informal letter asking to be informed by the 

Judge of how the Salmons "Motion doesn't fit the "proper form" 

pertaining to CR 55." Judge Allen C. Nielson never responded. 
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On January 9, 2015 the trial court clerk sent and filed a notice of 

"Clerk's Motion For Dismiss for Want Of Prosecution." On January 

23, 2015 the Salmons filed for a Correction of Motion and 

Declaration for Default. On the February 17, 2015 hearing, Judge 

Patrick Monasmith signed the Salmon's Order of Default Judgment, 

and posted it the same day. On June 19, 2015 without notice of 

appearance MERS filed a motion to vacate the order of default. On 

July21, 2015 Judge Allen Nielson signed MERS's Order Vacating 

Order of Default. On September 01, 2015 the Salmons filed a 

Motion for Discovery with a proposed Order. On September 30, 

2015 Judge Allen C. Neilson signed MERS Order to Dismiss the 

case with Prejudice and denied the Salmon's Motion for Discovery. 

On October 13, 2015 Salmons filed a Motion to Recuse Judge 

Nielson. On October 27, 2015 Judge Neilson signed Salmon's 

Order Denying Motion for Recusal. On October 30, 2015 Salmons 

filed a Motion to Reconsider. At the November 17, 2015 hearing on 

Salmon's Motion to Reconsider, MERS failed appear for oral 

argument. Judge Neilson denied Salmon's Motion to Reconsider. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Judge Allen C. Neilson showed unfair bias in the way he addressed 

the Salmons' case: 

1. When the Salmons submitted the Orders for Default on August 

26, 2013 to the trial court (see CP at 40-42), the trial court 

should have addressed the Orders and motion's substance over 

form, because the affidavit of service was correct "an affidavit of 

service that is regular in form and substance is presumptively 

correct." Lee v. Western Processing, Co, 35 Wn. App. 466, 

469, 667 P.2d 638 (1983). The Salmon's Motion. Affidavit, 

Orders and ex parte service fee required the trial court's action. 

Ignoring the Salmon's Orders caused confusion to the Salmons 

in knowing how to proceed, and left the legal door open for 

unnecessary future litigation expenses. 
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2. When referring to MERS registered agent (Robert Jacobsen) 

was a "fly-by-night scam artist"; but there was no evidence of 

wrong doing on Robert Jacobsen's behalf. 

3. The trial court erased the Salmon's ex parte service with two 

orders filed and recorded online (see CP at 40-42), which 

caused damage to the Salmons from securing a timely remedy. 

Erasing the court record is a crime against the Salmons. 

4. MERS's Order Vacating Order of Default was issued without 

providing clear and convincing evidence that the service of 

process was incorrect, (see CP at 19-20). MERS inappropriately 

used a California Case to mislead the court into believing the 

service of process was invalid, although Salmons found that the 

case was Dismissed with Prejudice and no wrong doing was 

found against MERS registered agent. 

5. MERS had plenty of time to answer the Salmon's September 

01, 2015 Motion for Discovery before the September 22, 2015 

hearing, the Motion was wrongly denied. 

6. The Salmon's CPA cause of action case should not have been 

Dismissed with Prejudice on September 22, 2015 because the 

Salmons could not have known MERS was a monopoly in 2010 

and the elements to identity the claim of res judicata were 
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unsubstantiated and insufficient in all four categories: (1) subject 

matter; (2) cause of action; (3) persons and parties; and (4) the 

quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. 

7. The trial court erred by not recusing Judge Neilson for unfair 

bias against the Salmons and MERS registered agent, Robert 

Jacobsen. 

8. The trial court should have Granted the Salmon's Motion to 

Reconsider because: 

a. The CPA cause was not heard yet is foundationally 

different from the DOTA cause in the previous case. 

b. Of the preponderance of evidence showing that our 

Washington State agencies the Secretary of State and 

Department of Revenue records were correct in proving 

the legitimacy of the service of process. 

c. The doctrine of res judicata was misappropriated 

because the required elements were not met. 

d. The trial court showed unfair actions in inappropriately 

defending MERS and showing bias against the Salmons 

and Robert Jacobsen. 

e. Assignments of error 1-6 were not sufficiently addressed. 
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8. MERS actions are legally defined as a "Monopoly" pursuant 

Wash. Const. art. 12 § 22, and Wash. Const. art. 12 § 7 and 

Black Law Dictionary. MERS criminally controlled the 

assignments of the deeds of trust in purporting to be the notes 

legal 'beneficiary' and thereby controlling conveyances and 

therefore the sales of the real properties between associated 

non-interested parties, therein violating; Wash. Const. art. 12 § 

22; Wash. Const. art. 12 § 7; RCW 19.86 et al; RCW 

238.15.010; RCW 82.04.067(1) (c) (iii). 

ARGUMENT 

1. Judge Ignores Affidavit of Service.

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