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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

 Because the Salmons challenge various rulings by the trial 

court, there are several standards of review at issue in this appeal. 

1. Default Judgments. 

 “Default judgments are generally disfavored in 

Washington.”  Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 436, 446 

(2014).  CR 55(c)(1) provides in relevant part that, “[f]or good 

cause shown and upon such terms as the court deems just, the 

court may set aside an entry of default and, if a judgment by 

default has been entered * * *.”  “The decision to set aside an 
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order of default or judgment by default rests within the 

discretion of the trial court. CR 55(c)(1).”  Batterman v. Red 

Lion Hotels, 106 Wn. App. 54, 58 (2001).   

 Because MERS is not attacking the Salmons’ service of 

the Summons and Complaint on Fake MERS, the “clear and 

convincing” standard discussed throughout the Salmons’ 

Opening Brief does not apply.  Rather, the issue on appeal is 

whether, under CR 55(c), the trial court abused its discretion in 

holding that the Salmons’ service of process on Fake MERS 

was not effective service on MERS.  CP 19. 

2. The CR 12(b)(6) Motion. 

 “Whether res judicata bars an action is a question of law 

we review de novo.”  Jumamil v. Lakeside Casino, LLC, 179 

Wn. App. 665, 680 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014).  Thus, the Court 

reviews the motion to dismiss de novo.  

3. Motions to Reconsider and to Recuse. 

 The standard of review of a trial court's order on motion 

for reconsideration is for an abuse of discretion.  “Motions for 
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reconsideration are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial 

court and will not be reversed absent a clear or manifest abuse 

of that discretion.”  In re Marriage of Kinnan, 131 Wn. App. 

738, 753 (2006).   

 The standard of review of a trial court's recusal decision 

is for an abuse of discretion.  Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wn. App. 

76, 87 (2012). 

B. Setting Aside the Order of Default was Appropriate 

Because MERS was Never Served 
 
1. The record is clear that the Salmons only served 

Fake MERS and not MERS. 
 

 Fake MERS was a Washington domestic corporation 

incorporated by Robert Jacobsen on June 3, 2009.  CP 176-178.  

The Salmons contend that, on July 30, 2013, they served Fake 

MERS through the Secretary of State.  CP 1-3.  Although the 

Salmons argue that they served a registered agent, the 

Washington Secretary of State’s July 19, 2013 letter confirms 

that their assertion is incorrect.  CP 1-3.  Indeed, Fake MERS was 
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dissolved in June 2010 and, therefore, there was no registered 

agent to serve in July of 2013.  CP 202.   

 The Washington Secretary of State made service on Fake 

MERS by mailing the Summons and Complaint to Fake MERS 

at the principal office of Fake MERS, through Robert Jacobsen, 

PO Box 1386, Lafayette, CA 94549.  See RCW 23B.05.040; 

CP 001-003 and CP 176-178.   

 There is no record that MERS was served with the 

Summons and Complaint.  MERS was not served with process 

and, therefore, had no notice of the Salmons’ lawsuit.  See 

CP 154, ¶4.  MERS is a Delaware corporation with its principal 

place of business in Reston, Virginia.  CP 162.  It is not registered 

to do business in Washington and does not have a registered 

agent in Washington.  CP 163, ¶ 6-7. 

Fake MERS is a separate corporation, improperly 

established by Robert Jacobsen to defraud third parties and harm 

MERS' business practices by making it appear Fake MERS 

could accept service of process intended for MERS.  CP 162-
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163.  On February 2, 2010, in the United States District Court for 

the Northern District of California, MERS obtained a permanent 

injunction against Robert Jacobsen, preventing him from 

improperly using the name Mortgage Electronic Registration 

Systems, Inc.  The permanent injunction provides in pertinent 

part: 

 “(1) Mr. Jacobsen, together with any entity 

under his control or anyone acting on his behalf in 

any capacity, shall not engage in, commit or 

perform, directly or indirectly, any of the 

following acts: 

 

(a) Using or applying to register 

MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION 

SYSTEMS (with or without an "S"), MERS or any 

confusingly similar designations, as a mark, 

business name, domain name, email address, meta-

tag, keyword, or otherwise; and 

 

(b) Accepting service of process or other 

documents intended for MERS, including 

summonses, complaints, subpoenas, or any other 

legally-required notices naming or involving 

mortgage liens held by Mortgage Electronic 

Registration Systems, Inc., a Delaware 

corporation.”  CP 194-196.   
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Here, the problem is that the Salmons purport that the 

service and default they obtained based on service of process on 

Fake MERS is effective against MERS.  To support their 

erroneous position, the Salmons rely solely on the fact that Fake 

MERS has the same name as MERS.  This argument is without 

merit or any legal support.  The purpose of requiring proper 

service of process is to put a defendant on notice of an action so 

it has an opportunity to defend the claims against it.  See 

Sheldon v. Fettig, 77 Wn.App. 775, 781 (1995).  MERS did not 

receive proper notice of the Salmons’ action and, under 

CR 55(c), the trial court properly used its discretion and vacated 

the default order entered against MERS.    

Service on Fake MERS is not effective against MERS.  

Because the Salmons did not serve MERS, but instead claimed 

that the service on Fake MERS was valid against MERS, the trial 

court properly entered the Order Vacating the Default.  CP 19-21.  

MERS requests the court affirm the trial court’s order. 
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2. The Trial Court Properly Denied the Salmons’ 

“Motion for Discovery.” 
 

After the trial court entered the Order Vacating the 

Default, and after MERS filed a CR 12(b)(6) Motion to 

Dismiss, the Salmons filed a Motion for Discovery seeking 

documents on the issues that were already addressed in MERS’ 

Motion to Vacate Order of Default.   

The Salmons do not cite any legal authority supporting 

their right to file a Motion for Discovery.  Discovery is 

governed by Court Rules 26 through 37.  Discovery motions are 

only proper after a party has failed to respond to discovery 

requests propounded upon it under these court rules.  The 

prerequisites to a discovery motion in this case did not occur.  

The Salmons did not issue any discovery requests upon MERS.  

MERS did not fail to respond to any proper discovery requests 

and, therefore, there was no basis for the Salmons’ discovery 

motion.  The trial court properly denied this motion.   
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C. Salmons’ Claims Against MERS are Barred by Res 

Judicata and Collateral Estoppel 

 

 A claim for relief should be dismissed under CR 12(b)(6) 

when "it is clear from the complaint that the allegations set 

forth do not support a claim[.]" Berge v. Gorton, 88 Wn.2d 756, 

759, 567 P.2d 187 (1977).  

For purposes of a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the allegations in 

a plaintiff’s complaint are taken as true. Cutler v. Phillips 

Petroleum Co., 124 Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994). A 

CR 12(b)(6) motion should be granted if "it appears beyond 

doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with 

the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." Zabka 

v. Bank of America, 131 Wn. App. 167, 170, 127 P.3d 722 

(2005) (quoting Haberman v. Washington Pub. Power Supply 

Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 120, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987)).  Dismissal of 

the Salmons’ suit was proper because, taking as true the facts 

alleged in the Salmons' Complaint and the pleadings from the 
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First Lawsuit, of which the Court properly took judicial notice, 

the Salmons’ claims fail as a matter of law. 

1. Claim Preclusion Bars the Salmons’ Claims. 

The purpose of res judicata, or claim preclusion, is to 

"prevent relitigation of already determined causes and curtail 

multiplicity of actions and harassment in the courts."  Bordeaux 

v. Ingersoll Rand Co., 71 Wn.2d 392, 395, 429 P.2d 207 

(1967).  In other words, res judicata "puts an end to strife, 

produces certainty as to individual rights, and gives dignity and 

respect to judicial proceedings." Marino Prop. Co. v. Port 

Commissioners, 97 Wn.2d 307, 312, 644 P.2d 1181 (1982).  

Res judicata extends not only to every claim actually litigated 

in the prior proceeding, but also extends to claims that "should 

have been decided among the parties in an earlier proceeding." 

Norris v. Norris, 95 Wn.2d 124, 130, 622 P.2d 816 (1980).   

In determining which claims are barred by res judicata, 

courts hold that the doctrine bars every claim "which properly 

belonged to the subject of the litigation, and which the parties, 
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exercising reasonable diligence, might have brought forward at 

that time." Kelly-Hansen v. Kelly-Hansen, 87 Wn. App. 320, 

329, 941 P.2d 1108 (1997) (quoting Golden v. McGill, 3 Wn.2d 

708, 720, 102 P.2d 219(1940)). 

Claim preclusion occurs when a prior judgment has a 

concurrence of identity in four respects with a subsequent 

action.  Rains v. State, 100 Wn. 2d 660, 663, 674 P.2d 165, 168 

(1983).  There must be identity of (1) subject matter; (2) cause 

of action; (3) persons and parties; and (4) the quality of the 

persons for or against whom the claim is made.  Rains, supra, at 

663 (citing Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi, 91 Wn.2d 223, 

588 P.2d 725 (1978)).  All four elements of res judicata are 

present in this case.   

a. The Salmons’ lawsuits have the “same 

subject matter” and “cause of action,” 

satisfying the first two res judicata factors. 
 

The first two factors of the res judicata test, i.e., the 

“same subject matter” element and “identity of causes of 

action,” are often conflated into one element.  Article: Claim 
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And Issue Preclusion In Civil Litigation In Washington., 60 

Wash. L. Rev. 805, 812-813 (1985).  While identity of causes 

of action "cannot be determined precisely by mechanistic 

application of a simple test," the following criteria have been 

considered: (1) whether rights or interests established in the 

prior judgment would be destroyed or impaired by prosecution 

of the second action; (2) whether substantially the same 

evidence is presented in the two actions; (3) whether the two 

suits involve infringement of the same right; and (4) whether 

the two suits arise out of the same transactional nucleus of 

facts.  Rains, 100 Wn. 2d 660 at 663.  The subject matter and 

causes of action in all three lawsuits are the same, as 

demonstrated through application of the four-factor test stated 

in Rains.   

In all three lawsuits, the Salmons challenge the validity 

of the foreclosure based on MERS’ execution of an assignment 

of any interest it may have in the Deed of Trust.  The suits arise 

out of an identical transactional nucleus of facts, which is: the 
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Salmons obtained a loan secured by a Deed of Trust recorded 

against the Property, MERS’ execution of an assignment to 

Bank of America of any interest MERS may have had in the 

Deed of Trust, the Salmons defaulted on their loan, and Bank of 

America, the then-current Deed of Trust beneficiary, attempted 

to foreclose on the Deed of Trust on the Property.  Thus, all 

criteria establishing the first and second factors for res judicata, 

namely the same subject matter and same causes of action, 

exist. 

b. The parties are the same, satisfying the 

third and fourth factors. 

 

The Salmons and MERS were parties to the First Lawsuit 

and to this action.  Therefore, the parties are identical and 

satisfy the third factor (requiring the parties, or those in privity 

with the parties, to be the same in both lawsuits) and the fourth 

factor (requiring the parties to be qualitatively the same).  

Rains, supra, at 663; Ensley v. Pitcher, 152 Wn. App. 891, 902 
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(2009)(explaining that parties in privity satisfy the same party 

factor for res judicata). 

c. The Salmons’ allegations that the Bain 

decision creates legal authority has no 

effect on res judicata. 
 

In their Complaint, the Salmons incorrectly allege that 

the decision in Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83 

(2012) (hereafter, “Bain”), is legal support for this action.2  CP 

52-53.  In the Complaint, the Salmons allege: 

“MERS has been acting outside the Washington 

State Laws since it began transferring beneficial 

loan interest as only the true, and legal beneficiary 

may. Bain (Kristin), et al. v. Mortg. Elec. 

Registration Sys., et al.”  CP 52-53.   

 

As MERS successfully established in the trial court 

proceeding, the Bain decision, entered after the First Lawsuit 

and the Second Lawsuit were dismissed, has no bearing on the 

preclusive effect of the dismissal in the First Lawsuit.   

                                            

2 Whether MERS was a proper beneficiary is not relevant 

because it did not appoint the foreclosing trustee.  CP 125-126.  
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The res judicata effect of a final, unappealed judgment 

on the merits is not altered by the fact that the judgment may 

have been wrong or rested on a legal principle subsequently 

overruled in another case.  Federated Dep't Stores v. Moitie, 

452 U.S. 394, 398, 101 S.Ct. 2424, 2428 (1981).  Explaining its 

decision, the Court said: 

As this Court explained in Baltimore S.S. Co. v. 

Phillips, 274 U.S. 316, 325 (1927), an "erroneous 

conclusion" reached by the court in the first suit 

does not deprive the defendants in the second 

action "of their right to rely upon the plea of res 

judicata. . . . A judgment merely voidable because 

based upon an erroneous view of the law is not 

open to collateral attack, but can be corrected only 

by a direct review and not by bringing another 

action upon the same cause [of action]." We have 

observed that "[the] indulgence of a contrary view 

would result in creating elements of uncertainty 

and confusion and in undermining the conclusive 

character of judgments, consequences which it was 

the very purpose of the doctrine of res judicata to 

avert."  

 

Moitie, 452 U.S. 394 at 398-99, quoting Reed v. Allen, 286 U.S. 

191, 201 (1932).  Likewise, in Columbia Rentals v. State, 89 

Wn.2d 819 (Wash. 1978), the Supreme Court of Washington 
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rejected an attempt to avoid res judicata on the grounds of a 

changed judicial interpretation of the law in a subsequent case.  

Columbia Rentals, supra, at 822 (citing Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. 

v. Henneford, 199 Wash. 462, 92 P.2d 214 (1939).  Claim 

preclusion bars the Salmons’ attempt to relitigate their failed 

arguments from the First Lawsuit, which were dismissed with 

prejudice.  The court must affirm the trial court’s dismissal of 

the Salmons’ claims against MERS. 

d. The Salmons’ new argument, raised for 

the first time on appeal, that the Bain 

decision creates new facts, is not 

consistent with the record. 

 

 The Salmons apparently concede that any potential 

change in the law caused by the Bain decision does not prevent 

res judicata.  The Salmons now make a new argument for the 

first time on appeal.  This Court should not consider this new 

argument because it was not preserved below.  RAP 2.5(a).   

Regardless, the Salmons’ new argument fails because it 

is not supported by the record.  The Salmons’ new argument is 
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that they could not litigate the claims asserted in this lawsuit 

until the 2012 Bain decision revealed that MERS had a 

“monopoly in the mortgage assignment business in Washington 

State.”  See Brief of Appellant, pp. 6 and 33. 

 The Salmons did not make such an allegation in their 

Complaint.  Accordingly, regardless of the Salmons’ repeated 

reference to a “monopoly” in their Opening Brief, a purported 

“monopoly” is not the basis of the claims alleged against 

MERS in the Complaint in this lawsuit.  To the contrary, in 

their Complaint, the Salmons only rely upon Bain to support the 

following allegation against MERS: 

“1.  MERS’ claim of beneficiary on the 

Washington State deeds of trust has been RULED 

unlawful under Washington State Supreme Court 

decision No. 86206-1 which states: 

 

A. CERTIFIED QUESTION No. 1: "Is Mortgage 

Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., a lawful 

"beneficiary" within the terms of Washington's 

Deed of Trust Act, Revised Code of Washington 

section 61.24.005(2), if it never held the 

promissory note secured by the deed of trust? 

[Short answer: No.]" This ruling disallows MERS 

any rights to transfer the note or its security.  
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MERS has been acting outside the Washington 

State Laws since it began transferring beneficial 

loan interest as only the true, and legal beneficiary 

may.  Bain (Kristin), et al. v. Mortg. Elec. 

Registration Sys., et al.”  CP 52-53. 

 

 Indeed, the basis of this lawsuit is the Salmons’ 

erroneous contention that MERS could not assign the Deed of 

Trust to BAC Home Loans, which was necessary to allow the 

foreclosure to proceed.  That is the same argument the Salmons 

made in the First Lawsuit and the Second Lawsuit.  The Bain 

decision does not create any new fact that would justify 

avoiding res judicata.   

Moreover, in this action, the Salmons seek to avoid 

foreclosure, the exact same relief they sought in the First 

Lawsuit and Second Lawsuit.  Res judicata applies to a matter 

that “is merely an alternate theory of recovery, or an alternate

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